

VU Research Portal

Accounting changes and the use of financial information

Vergoossen, R.G.A.

1990

document version

Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication in VU Research Portal

citation for published version (APA)

Vergoossen, R. G. A. (1990). *Accounting changes and the use of financial information*. (Serie Research Memoranda; No. 1990-94). Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam.

General rightsCopyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- · Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal?

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

E-mail address:

vuresearchportal.ub@vu.nl

Download date: 22. May. 2021

ET

05348

Serie Research Memoranda

Accounting Changes and the Use of Financial Information

Paper presented at the Touche Ross European Doctoral Colloquium Budapest (Hungary), April 15-17, 1990

drs. R.G.A. Vergoossen

Research Memorandum 1990-94



-· ...

ACCOUNTING CHANGES AND THE USE OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

PAPER PRESENTED AT THE TOUCHE ROSS EUROPEAN DOCTORAL COLLOQUIUM

BUDAPEST (HUNGARY), APRIL 15-17, 1990

Research design of drs. Ruud G.A. Vergoossen (supervisor: Prof. dr. Jan Klaassen)

Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, The Netherlands
Faculty of Economics and Econometrics
Department of Financial and Management Accounting

Contents

1. Introduction		3
1.1.	Problem	3
1.2.	Goals	3
1.3.	Definitions	4
1.4.	Structure of the Paper	4
2. Posi	tion of the Study in the Research Spectrum	5
2.1.	Hoogendoorn (1988)	5
2.2.	Klaassen and Schreuder (1980)	7
2.3.	Hypothesis	7
3. Over	view of Similar Research	8
3.1.	All Accounting Changes	9
3.2.	Accounting Changes Not Affecting Taxes	9
3.3.	Accounting Changes Affecting Taxes	10
3.4.	An Overview	11
4. Research Methods		12
4.1.	Inquiries in an Experimental Situation	13
4.2.	Inquiries in a Real World Situation	. 14
4.3.	A Combination	15
Bibliography		16
Mailine	List	20



Introduction

In this chapter the problem, the goals and the relevant definitions with respect to the study will be discussed.

1.1. Problem

A lot of research has been done into the frequency of accounting changes, the effects of accounting changes on financial statements and the motives for decisions by company managements to change accounting methods. It appears that managers often use accounting changes as an instrument to influence the judgements or decisions of the users of annual reports.

In this study the principal question runs as follows:

Are accounting changes incorporated adequately in the judgements or decisions of the users of annual reports?

Stated differently: If management wants to influence the judgements or decisions of the users by means of accounting changes, do these changes have the intended effect?

1.2. Goals

The goals of my study can be divided into two categories, scientific goals and societal goals.

The scientific goals are:

- To know more about the use of annual reports.
- To know more about the behaviour of the users of annual reports.

The societal goals are:

- The results can make the users aware of the effects of accounting changes on accounting numbers.
- The results can be of interest to management to know in what way and to what extent accounting changes influence users' behaviour.
- The results can contribute to adequate accounting standards relating to accounting changes.

1.3. Definitions

In the Netherlands the Council for Annual Reporting (Raad voor de Jaarverslaggeving) distinguishes the following three types of accounting changes:

- 1. Changes in an accounting policy: They result from adoption of an accounting policy different from the one used previously. Changes in an accounting policy include, for example, changes in the method of inventory pricing, changes in the depreciation method, changes in the method of accounting for long-term construction-type contracts, and changes in accounting for research and development expenditures.
- 2. Changes in the reporting entity: After this kind of changes a different group of companies comprise the reporting entity.
- 3. Changes in the presentation of financial statements other than changes in the reporting entity.

The research will be confined to accounting changes of the first type. Usually these changes affect the reported earnings and financial ratios of a company most.

With respect to the users the next categories will be distinguished:

- Investors and financial analysts: They interpret accounting numbers as an input to investment decisions.
- Officers of lending institutions (e.g., banks and insurance companies): They have to assess the creditworthiness of corporations.
- Financial press: As an intermediary between the providers and the ultimate users of financial information it has to interpret accounting numbers.

The term financial statements covers balance sheets, income statements, statements of changes in financial position, notes and other statements and explanatory material which are identified as being part of the financial statements.

1.4. Structure of the Paper

The second of th

The next chapter deals with the position of my study in the Dutch research spectrum at present. Then similar research from abroad will be reviewed in chapter 3. Finally different research methods will be discussed in chapter 4.

2. Position of the Study in the Research Spectrum

To form hypotheses with respect to the problem mentioned in the preceding chapter for one thing one should gain an insight into the whys and wherefores of changes in accounting policies, for another it is important to know in what way and to what extent users read and understand financial statements.

In the Netherlands Hoogendoorn examined accounting changes in the financial statements of Dutch companies. Klaassen and Schreuder on the other hand investigated the use of annual reports in the Netherlands.

2.1. Hoogendoorn (1988)

Hoogendoorn reviewed 1380 annual reports of 138 listed Dutch companies during ten years (1977-1986). On average almost 30% of all annual reports contained one or more discretionary accounting changes¹.

He formulated and tested the following three hypotheses:

- 1. If an accounting change is made with income increasing effect, the company has a below average income.
- 2. If an accounting change is made with income decreasing effect, the company has an above average income.
- 3. If an accounting change with equity increasing effect is made, the company has an above average leverage.

The hypotheses were based on the functional fixation framework. They were found to be acceptable in a strong or very strong rate². The discretionary accounting changes seem to be motivated by their effect on reported income or leverage. Hoogendoorn concluded:

It should be noted that in the Netherlands the accounting standards with respect to accounting changes are liberal compared with other countries (e.g., the United States). Consequently the type of accounting changes differs. Thus the frequency of discretionary accounting changes in the Netherlands is much higher than in the United States. Mandatory accounting changes hardly occur in the Netherlands.

That is 70-100 percent of the managements acted in the expected way.

- An income increasing change seems to have been made to give the impression to the users that the income is not or not so far below average.
- An income decreasing change seems to have been made to create possibilities for raising income in the future, without a negative impact on users' judgement in the year of the change.
- An equity increasing change seems to have been made to give the impression that the leverage is not or not so far above average, especially in order to better be able to renew or extend debts.

Concerning the agency theory research Hoogendoorn concluded that the results of these studies, at least with respect to explaining accounting change behaviour of companies, were far from convincing.

A basic feature of the agency theory is that individuals (managers and users of the annual report) act in a rational manner and try to maximize their own utility. The existence of an efficient market is an important assumption. Given the rational behaviour of users, a rational company management will not make accounting changes only to give a more favourable financial picture of the company as influencing the judgement of users (in the intended way) will not take place. An accounting change will therefore only be made if there are determinable positive economic consequences for company management. For example, accounting changes affecting taxes to be paid, accounting changes minimizing the political costs of the company, accounting changes influencing management compensation or debt covenants. As such these studies are mainly on the cross-sectional variation in accounting procedures (accounting choice), and not on the time-series differences (accounting change)³.

It should be noted that in the United States a lot of research has been done into the influence of the FIFO/LIFO change on users' behaviour. This accounting change affects taxes to be paid. But the LIFO system is only acceptable for fiscal purposes if that system is also used for commercial purposes. So firms switching to the LIFO system increase their after-tax cash flows and at the same time decrease their reported earnings (during inflationary periods). An overview of these studies is given in paragraph 3.3.

2.2. Klaassen and Schreuder (1980)

Klaassen and Schreuder did research into the question in what way and to what extent users read and understand annual reports. This research is comparable to studies of Lee and Tweedie (United Kingdom) and Chang and Most (United States).

Klaassen and Schreuder arrived at the following conclusions:

- Users read the annual report in a shallow way.
- Users without a specific knowledge often confine themselves to the chairman's report.
- Users with a specific knowledge do also read the financial statements but do not often read the notes in which the accounting policies (and the changes of them) are stated.
- Users with a specific knowledge find forecast information and the bottom line net income the most important information elements.
- The understanding of the financial statements is disappointingly low, even with financial experts such as institutional investors.

These research findings could be linked up with the human information processing theory. But it should be emphasized that my study is about the effects of accounting changes on the behaviour of users and not on the processing of the information.

2.3. Hypothesis

The research done by Hoogendoorn and Klaassen/Schreuder is related with my study in such a way that on the basis of their findings it is possible to hypothesize that decisions of users of annual reports will be affected by discretionary changes in accounting policy.

The relationship between the three subjects can be visualized as follows:

effects of the influence the use of accounting changes ----- financial on accounting numbers on users' behaviour statements

Overview of Similar Research

Before one should examine the effects of accounting changes on users' judgements or decisions, it is important to know whether financial information presented in annual reports is useful.

In this field interesting work has been done by Ball and Brown (1968). They investigated the annual earnings announcements of 261 firms listed at the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) for the years 1957-1965. It was found that unexpected increases in earnings were accompanied by positive abnormal rates of return and unexpected decreases by negative abnormal rates of return⁴. However, it should be noted that 85-90 percent of the adjustment of the stock price to annual earnings changes occurred before the month of the earnings announcement. This earlier movement was due to quarterly reports of earnings as well as to nonaccounting sources of information.

Given the efficient market hypothesis, the findings of Ball and Brown imply that reported accounting earnings reflect factors affecting stock prices and are potentially useful.

The Ball and Brown study has been replicated for annual earnings announcements by firms traded in U.S. markets other than the NYSE (e.g., Foster, 1975) and for annual earnings announcements by firms traded in other countries (e.g., Brown on Australia, 1970). These studies confirmed the existence of a statistically significant association between unexpected earnings and residual stock returns.

With respect to the influence of accounting changes on users' behaviour one can distinguish the following two hypotheses:

1. Functional fixation hypothesis: The hypothesis is also called the mechanistic hypothesis (e.g., Watts and Zimmerman, 1986) or the monopolistic hypothesis (e.g., Ball, 1972). The hypothesis implies that the market cannot completely distinguish real and accounting effects and that it is therefore misled by accounting changes (Ball, 1972). It follows from an assumption that accounting reports are the sole source of information on the firm.

It should be noted that underlying the tests of association between abnormal returns and unexpected earnings and the information content of earnings is the notion that earnings are measures of current and future cash flows.

2. Efficient market hypothesis: Under the version where the market reacts efficiently to all information, no market reaction to an accounting change would be observed unless the change actually conveys new information concerning real factors. Under the version where publicly available information is digested efficiently, any market reaction to an undisclosed accounting change is removed when disclosure eventually occurs, again excepting real factors (Ball, 1972). The former is the strong form and the latter is the semistrong form of the hypothesis. Usually, unqualified references to the efficient market hypothesis are references to the semistrong form.

Watts and Zimmerman distinguish three sets of accounting changes used in the studies to discriminate between the competing hypotheses:

- 1. All accounting changes whether they affect taxes or not;
- 2. Accounting changes that do not affect taxes;
- 3. Accounting changes that affect taxes.

Below a survey of the papers in which the hypotheses emerged.

3.1. All Accounting Changes

Ball (1972) examined 430 cases of accounting changes, some having cash flow effects and others not, and concluded that investors were able to distinguish between the real (cash flow) and 'cosmetic' effects of accounting changes on earnings.

3.2. Accounting Changes Not Affecting Taxes

In this set the influence on users' behaviour of accounting changes with no direct cash flow effects is investigated.

Archibald (1972) examined the stock prices of firms that switched from accelerated to straight-line depreciation (without changing their tax-accounting method) and concluded that no significant price reaction occurred during the month of earnings announcement (even though the accounting change increased reported earnings by about 10 percent).

Kaplan and Roll (1972) examined firms switching from accelerated to

straight-line depreciation and firms switching from deferral to flowthrough accounting for the investment tax credit. Both changes improve reported earnings but have no direct tax consequences. They found that the returns of the depreciation-switching firms were worse than the average during the 30 weeks following the announcements. For the firms switching to the flow-through method from the deferral method, a temporary increase in price occurred at the earnings announcement date. However, during the 30 weeks after the announcement, the switching firms' stocks were worse than those of firms that did not switch. Nevertheless, Kaplan and Roll concluded that the market was not 'fooled' by the changes in accounting techniques.

Harrison (1977) compared the market performance of firms making discretionary as well as nondiscretionary accounting changes with the performance of similar firms that made no accounting changes. He found that firms that made discretionary changes resulting in earnings (but presumably not cash flow) increases experienced returns below those of the control group.

3.3. Accounting Changes Affecting Taxes

In this set the influence on users' behaviour of accounting changes that have cash flow effects is investigated. These studies were all focused on just one accounting change - the FIFO/LIFO change.

Sunder (1973, 1975) reported that firms switching to the LIFO inventory method, thereby decreasing their reported earnings but increasing after-tax cash flows during inflationary periods, experienced positive excess returns in the 12 months preceding the announcement of the change. This finding seems to confirm the market's rationality, since it suggests a reaction to the expected cash flow increases rather than to the reported earnings decreases. However, for a relatively small sample of firms (about 20) that switched from LIFO to FIFO, Sunder did not detect the expected negative market reaction.

Abdel-khalik and McKeown (1978) classified the LIFO-switching firms into two groups according to the sign of the unexpected earnings change. Firms with positive unexpected earnings that switched to LIFO

performed better than a control group, while the firms with negative unexpected earnings that switched to LIFO performed worse than a control group (i.e., experienced lower stock returns). These findings suggest that investor reaction was associated with the earnings performance of the switching firms rather than with the accountingmethod switch.

Ricks (1982) matched firms that changed to LIFO with firms that did not change to LIFO but had approximately the same earnings change. He found that the LIFO-adopting firms experienced significantly lower residual returns than the control group during the month of the change announcement. So his findings were consistent with the functional fixation hypothesis.

Brown (1980) reported results consistent with Ricks'- an adverse market reaction for the firms changing to LIFO.

Biddle and Lindahl (1982) examined the association between residual stock returns and the realized tax savings due to the LIFO switch, rather than merely the market reaction to the accounting change. With some exceptions, the results indicated a positive association between residual stock returns and LIFO tax savings. This is consistent with investor rationality.

3.4. An Overview

From the papers discussed in this chapter one can conclude that the research findings are not unambiguous. The following table gives a rough overview.

Table: Overview Research Findings

Functional fixation hypothesis (more or less) confirmed:

- * Sunder (1973, 1975)
- * Abdel-khalik & McKeown (1978)
- * Brown (1980)
- * Ricks (1982)

Efficient market hypothesis (more or less) confirmed:

- * Archibald (1972)
- * Kaplan & Roll (1972)
- * Ball (1972)
- * Harrison (1977)
- * Biddle and Lindahl (1982)

The ambiguous research findings are probably caused by the possibility that there might be 'hidden' cash flow effects associated with accounting changes or by the different research methodologies used in the various studies. Both Watts and Zimmerman (1986), and Lev and Ohlson (1982) give a critical evaluation of most of the above studies.

Although the research methodologies are different the reviewed studies have two common features. Firstly in these studies the effects of accounting changes on the behaviour of only shareholders were examined. Secondly the aggregate effects on users' behaviour (i.e., stock price behaviour) were investigated.

Concerning these issues the study of Abdel-khalik and Keller (1979) is quite different. They examined the judgement of financial analysts with respect to a change from the FIFO system to the LIFO system for fiscal as well as for commercial purposes. As mentioned earlier⁵ these changes meant an increase of cash flows but a decrease of reported income. The analysts were asked to state preferences between six companies. The researchers worked in different rounds and gradually the accounting changes were made. In the notes to the financial statements the changes were explained. Of all respondents 88 percent said they noticed the accounting change. But the results showed that the financial analysts clearly had a preference for companies that used the FIFO system. The researchers concluded that they were functionally fixated on reported net income.

Interesting too in this respect is an early study of Jensen (1966). By means of questionnaires sent to analysts the effects of alternative depreciation and inventory methods on investment decisions were examined. Results indicated that different accounting techniques did affect the opinions of analysts, primarily through the impact on earnings-per-share figures.

4. Research Methods

Before discussing the research methods, I would like to evaluate the usefulness and possibilities for research into the effects of accounting changes on users' behaviour in the Netherlands.

⁵ See footnote 3, page 6.

As far as I know there never has been done any research or this subject in the Netherlands. However, the Dutch 'market' is too small to duplicate the research methods in which the effects of accounting changes on stock price behaviour is investigated. Besides other user categories will be scrutinized. So we have to choose another research method.

Another important reason to do this research in the Netherlands is the fact that the accounting standards with respect to accounting changes are different from those in the United States. As mentioned earlier the accounting rules in the Netherlands are relatively liberal. The Dutch Accounting Guidelines (Richtlijnen voor de jaarverslaggeving), formulated by the Council for Annual Reporting, cannot compel companies to change an accounting principle. Only law can do that, but the law is only formulated in general terms.

Concerning the research methods I would like to distinguish between the financial press on the one hand and the financial analysts and lending officers on the other. This because of the differences in the use of annual reports.

The way the financial press interpretes accounting numbers will be examined by analyzing newspaper-articles around announcement dates of financial statements and by comparing the contents of these articles with the underlying sources. The crucial question is: Do newspapers signal accounting changes?

With respect to the financial analysts and the lending officers the following three possible research methods will be considered for application:

- 1. Inquiries in an experimental situation.
- 2. Inquiries in a real world situation.
- 3. A combination.

4.1. Inquiries in an Experimental Situation

The experiments will be divided into two parts:

1. To the users fictitious cases will be presented. Then through written inquiries the actual reaction will be examined. The

⁶ See footnote 1, page 5.

respondents are not informed explicitly about the objectives of the inquiries (indirect method).

Possibly this part of the research should be combined with a kind of protocol analysis; respondents should think aloud when they complete the questionnaires. So no information that could be of importance to the research will get lost.

For both user categories there will be one test group and one control group (with matched samples).

Through written inquiries or depth interviews will be examined what
users say they would do in case of accounting changes. The
respondents are informed explicitly about the objectives of the
research (direct method).

There will be no control groups.

4.2. Inquiries in a Real World Situation

Real annual reports will be handed to the users accompanied with a questionnaire.

In the questionnaire the questions should be asked in such a way that it is possible to conclude to what extent accounting changes influence the judgements or decisions of the respondents.

With respect to this research method a problem emerges. Then users' judgements and decisions are a function of the expectations formed about the future performance of the firm, but different firms have different characteristics which would lead to the formation of different expectations. For example, the firm's financial and business history, its size, its financial structure, its contractual commitments (such as leases and pensions), its investment programs and other variables of relevance to the future operation of the firm could affect the judgements or decisions made by the respondents.

In a real world situation it is difficult to construct matched samples in order to isolate the effect of an accounting change on users' evaluations. Further the results would be situation specific and probably not generalizable to other settings. In other words, there would be a lack of external validity.

A possible solution to these problems is a combination of the above research methods.

4.3. A Combination

In this case the identities of the firms are disguised to avoid the use of other environmental information in the evaluation made by the respondents. Matched samples can be constructed independently. This method is comparable with the one used in the Abdel-khalik and Keller study.

Members of the Colloquium Faculty, fellow students,

I would like to discuss with you the pros and cons of the research methods. Also I would like to know which of these methods should be preferred ultimately.

Bibliography

Literature referred to in this paper is printed in bold type.

Abdel-khalik A.R. & McKeown J.C., Understanding Accounting Changes in an Efficient Market: Evidence of Differential Reaction, The Accounting Review, October 1978.

Abdel-khalik A.R. & Keller T.F., Earnings or Cash Flows: An Experiment on Functional Fixation and the Valuation of the Firm, American Accounting Association, 1979.

Archibald T.R., Stock Market Reaction to the Depreciation Switch-Back, The Accounting Review, January 1972.

Ball R., Changes in Accounting Techniques and Stock Prices, Empirical Research in Accounting: Selected Studies, 1972 (Supplement to Volume 10 of the Journal of Accounting Research).

Ball R. & Brown P., An Empirical Evaluation of Accounting Income Numbers, Journal of Accounting Research, Autumn 1968.

Biddle G.C. & Lindahl F.W., Stock Price Reactions to LIFO Adoptions: The Association Between Excess Returns and LIFO Tax Savings, Journal of Accounting Research, Autumn 1982.

Bremser W.G., The Earnings Characteristics of Firms Reporting Discretionary Accounting Changes, The Accounting Review, July 1975.

Brown P., The Impact of the Annual Net Profit Report on the Stock Market, The Australian Accountant, July 1970.

Brown R.M., Short-Range Market Reaction to Changes to LIFO Accounting Using Preliminary Earnings Announcement Dates, Journal of Accounting Research, Spring 1980.

Chang L.S. & Most K.S., Investor Uses of Financial Statements: An Empirical Study, in: Corporate Annual Report Analysis, J.K. Courtis, University of New England, Armidale (Australia), 1978.

Chang L.S. & Most K.S., The Perceived Usefulness of Financial Statements for Investors' Decisions, Florida International University Press, Miami, 1985.

Danos P., Holt D.L. & Imhoff jr E.A., The Use of Accounting Information in Bank Lending Decisions, Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol. 14, No. 3, 1989.

Feenstra D.W., Oordeelsvorming rond de externe berichtgeving, Wolters-Noordhoff, Groningen, 1985.

Feenstra D.W., De beste stuurlui....; Over de oordeelsvorming en besluitvorming van accountants, Wolters-Noordhoff, Groningen, 1988.

Feenstra D.W. & Van de Poel J.H.R., Financieel-economische berichtgeving, oordeelsvorming en besluitvorming, Maandblad voor Bedrijfsadministratie en Organisatie, nummer 1077, 1986.

Foster G., Accounting Earnings and Stock Prices of Insurance Companies, The Accounting Review, October 1975.

Harrison T., Different Market Reactions to Discretionary and Nondiscretionary Accounting Changes, Journal of Accounting Research, Spring 1977.

Hoogendoorn M.H., Stelselwijzigingen in de jaarrekening, in: Gehandhaafd, afscheidsbundel drs. J.C. Brezet, Erasmus Universiteit Rotterdam, december 1984.

Hoogendoorn M.H., Winstegalisatie ('Income smoothing'), Maandblad voor Accountancy en Bedrijfshuishoudkunde, juli/augustus 1985.

Hoogendoorn M.H., Stelselwijzigingen in de jaarrekening en de werkzaamheden van de accountant, De Accountant, maart 1986.

Hoogendoorn M.H., Stelselwijzigingen in de jaarrekening en de accountantsverklaring, De Accountant, april 1986.

Hoogendoorn M.H., Stelselwijzigingen in de jaarrekening en de accountantsverklaring: een antwoord aan collega J.M. Vecht RA, De Accountant, september 1986.

Hoogendoorn M.H., Het creatieve jaarrekeningbeleid van RSV, Pacioli Journaal, november 1987.

Hoogendoorn M.H., Why Do Companies Change Their Accounting Methods?, paper presented at the Eleventh Annual Congress of the European Accounting Association, Nice, 1988.

Hoogendoorn M.H., Ontwikkelingen in de bepaling van vermogen en resultaat: 1977-1986, De Accountant, april 1989.

Janzing G.B.M., Verwerking van stelselwijzigingen in de jaarrekening, Accountant-Adviseur, april 1983.

Jensen R.E., An Experimental Design for Study of Effects of Accounting Variations in Decision Making, Journal of Accounting Research, Autumn 1966.

Kaplan R.S. & Roll R., Invester Evaluation of Accounting Information: Some Empirical Evidence, The Journal of Business, April 1972.

Klaassen J. & Schreuder H., Het financiële jaarverslag van ondernemingen; Een onderzoek onder gebruikers, Stenfert Kroese, Leiden, 1980.

Lee T.A. & Tweedie D.P., Accounting Information: An Investigation of Private Shareholder Understanding, Accounting and Business Research, Winter 1975.

Lee T.A. & Tweedie D.P., The Private Shareholder: his Sources of Financial Information and his Understanding of Reporting Pratices, Accounting and Business Research, Autumn 1976.

Leftwich R., Evidence of the Impact of Mandatory Changes in Accounting Principles on Corporate Loan Agreements, in: The Modern Theory of Financial Reporting, L.D. Brown, Reading 5-3, Business Publications, 1987.

Lev B., Financial Statement Ananlysis: A New Approach, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, 1974.

Lev B. & Ohlson J.A., Market-Based Empirical Research in Accounting: A Review, Interpretation, and Extension, Current Research Methodologies in Accounting: 1982 (Supplement to Volume 20 of the Journal of Accounting Research).

Palepu K., The Anatomy of an Accounting Change, in: Accounting & Management; Field Study Perspectives, ed. W.J. Bruns, Jr. & R.S. Kaplan, Harvard Business School Press, Boston, 1987.

Poel van de J.H.R., Als de tekenen bedriegen...; Over beperkte rationaliteit en morele risico's in de berichtgeving, Wolters-Noordhoff, Groningen, 1988.

Ricks W.E., The Market's Response to the 1974 LIFO Adoptions, Journal of Accounting Research, Autumn 1982.

Schwieger B.J., A Summary of Accounting for and Reporting on Accounting Changes, The Accounting Review, October 1977.

Sunder S., Relationship Between Accounting Changes and Stock Prices: Problems of Measurement and Some Empirical Evidence, Empirical Research in Accounting: Selected Studies, 1973 (Supplement to Volume 11 of the Journal of Accounting Research).

Sunder S., Stock Price and Risk Related to Accounting Changes in Inventory Valuation, The Accounting Review, April 1975.

Tippett M., A Report on Financial Managers' Views on Changing Corporate Reporting Practices, University of Bristol, September 1987.

Vecht J.M., Stelselwijzigingen in de jaarrekening en de accountantsverklaring, De Accountant, juli/augustus 1986.

Watts R.L. & Zimmerman J.L., Positive Accounting Theory, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, 1986.

Wel van der F., Stelselwijzigingen in de jaarrekening: een empirisch onderzoek, in: Maatschappelijke Berichtgeving, opstellenbundel voor prof. Schoonderbeek, Kluwer, Deventer, 1986.

Wel van der F. & Wit de Th., Stelselwijzigingen in de jaarrekening: verslag van een empirisch onderzoek, researchmemorandum 1987-9, Faculteit der Economische Wetenschappen van de Vrije Universiteit te Amsterdam.

Wyatt A.R., Efficient Market Theory: Its Impact on Accounting, Journal of Accountancy, February 1983.

Zmijewski M.E. & Hagerman R.L., An Income Strategy Approach to the Positive Theory of Accounting Standard Setting/Choice, in: The Modern Theory of Financial Reporting, L.D. Brown, Reading 5-2, Business Publications, 1987.

Mailing List

A copy of this paper is sent to the following persons.

Members of the Colloquium Faculty:

- * Professor Ray Ball, University of Rochester, United States
- * Professor Jeremy Dent, Manchester Business School, United Kingdom
- * Professor Rien van Hoepen, Erasmus Universiteit, Rotterdam, The Netherlands
- * Professor Anthony Hopwood, University of London, United Kingdom
- * Professor Hein Schreuder, Rijksuniversiteit Limburg, Maastricht, The Netherlands

Fellow-students:

- * Ms. Shannon Weems Anderson, Harvard University, Boston, United States
- * Mr. Stefano Azzali, Facolta di Economia & Commercio, Parma, Italy
- * Mr. Michael Feldoff, University of Passau, Germany
- * Ms. Clare Grant, University of Stirling, United Kingdom
- * Mr. Christopher Guilding, University of Bradford, United Kingdom
- * Mr. Fernando Gutierrez, Universidad de Sevilla, Spain
- * Mr. Stephanino Isele, University of Zürich, Switzerland
- * Mr. Mark Loft, Copenhagen Business School, Denmark
- * Ms. Ghiara Mio, University of Venice, Italy
- * Mr. Hermann Pfaff, Johann Wolfgang Goethe Universitat, Frankfurt am Main, Germany
- * Mr. Hanno J.E. Roberts, Rijksuniversiteit Limburg, Maastricht, The Netherlands
- * Mr. W. Seal, Sheffield City Polytechnic, United Kingdom
- * Mr. Werner Seidenschwarz, University of Stuttgart, Germany
- * Mr. Bahram Soltani Cereg, Université Paris Dauphine, France
- * Ms. Annette Sorensen, The Aarhus School of Business, Denmark
- * Ms. Ewa Walinska, University of Lodz, Poland
- * Ms. Marcela Zarova, Vysoka Skola Ekonomicka, Prague, Czechoslovakia

Program Director EIASM Brussels: Ms. Gerry van Dyck